
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA

UN17'~D S'CATES OF AMCRICA,

Plaintiff,

v.

Dion Cumbie.

Defendant.

Civil Action No.

CONSENT DECREE

WI-IERCAS, the Plaintiff, the United States of America, on behalf of'the United States

Environmental Protection Agency ("SPA"), has ftled a Complaint in this action concurrently with

this Consent Decree ("Decree"), alleging that Defendant Dion Cumbie ("Defendant") discharbed

pollutants into waters of the United States without pern~its issued pursuant to Clean Water Act

("CWA") Section 404, 33 U.S.C. § 1344, in violation of CWA Section 301, 33 iJ.S.C. § 1311.

WI IC:RFAS, the Complaint alleges that Defendant violated CWA Section 301(a) by

discharging dredged ar till material and/or controllinb and directing the discharge of dredged or

fill material into waters ot'the United States without authorization by a required United States

Ueparlmenl of nrmy Corps of Engineers (the ̀ Corps" or "COE") CWA Section 404 permit, at an

approximately 224-acre property in Berkeley County, South Carolina, more particularly described

in the Complaint and on the location maps and aerial photographs attached as Appendices 1 and 2

to this Consent Decree (the "Site"):

~L
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WHEREAS, Defendant is a person who resides in l3eykeley County, South Carolina:

WHERL~IS, the Complaint alleges that Uet'endant personally operated mechanical

earthmoving equipment such as trackhocs and bulldozers to discharge dredged and/or till material

into waters ~f the United States at the Site;

WHEREAS, the Complaint seeks (1) to enjoin tl~c discharge of pollutants into waters of the

United States in violation of CWn Section 3O1(a). 33 U.S.C. ~ 1311(a); (2) to require Defendant,

at his own expense anc~ at the direction oi' E;P!\, to restore and/or mitigate the damages caused b;y

his unlawful activities; and (3) to require Defendant to pay civil penalties to the United States as

Provided in 33 U.S.('. ti 1319(d):

WHI ItI:AS, EI'A is charged with the statutory duty of enforcing the CW/~ pursuant l0 33

U.S.C. ̀ 1251 ct. seq. and the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto;

WHFR.EAS, the Delen~lant elc~cs Puri admit any ul~the allegations of the Complaint or any

liability to the United States arising nut of the occurrences alleged in the Complains;

WHEREAS, this Consent Decree is intended to constitute a complete and final setticment

of the United States' claims uncicr the CW11 set lorth in the Complaint regarding the Site;

WHEREAS, the United States anti Defendant rcco~;nirc that this Ccrosent necrcc has been

negotiated by the Parties in good faith and abrce that settic►ncnt of this case is in the public interest

and that entry of'this Consent Decree is the ►Host appropriate means of resolving the United States"

claims under the CWA against Defendant in this case; and

WHrRF.AS, the Curt finds that this Consent Decree was negotiated by the parties in good

faith, is a reasonahlc and lair ~ctticment cif the lJnited States' claims against Defendant in this case.

~p~.~
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and that this Consent Decree adequately protects the public interest in accordance with the CWA

and all other applicable federal law.

NOW, TIiEREFORL, before the taking of any testimony upon the pleadings, without

further adjudication of any issue of fact or law, and upon consent ~f the parties hereto by their

authorized representatives, it is hereby URD~RED, ADJUDGED and DECREED as follows:

L JURISDICTION AND VENUE

This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of these actions and over the

parties pursuant to 28 tJ.S.C. fi§ 1331, 1345, and 1355, and Section 309(b) of the CWA. 33 U.S.C.

§ 1319(b).

2. Venue is proper in the District of South Carolina pursuant to CWA Section 309(b),

33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), and 2$ U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c), because the subject property is located in

this District, and the causes of action alleged herein arose in this District and Defendant resides in

and conducts business in this District. Far purposes of this Decree, or any action to enforce this

Decree, Defendant consents to the Court's jurisdiction over this Decree and any such action and

over Defendant and consents to venue in this judicial district.

3. I~or purposes of~this Consent Decree, Defendant agrees that the Complaint states

claims upon which relief can be granted pursuant [o Section 309 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319.

ll. APPLICABILITY

4. The obligations of this Consent Decree shall apply to and be binding upon the

United States, and upon Defendant, his successors and assigns. In any action to enforce this

Consent Dccree against Defendant, Defendant shall not raise as a defense the failure of any of his

agents, employees, successors or assigns or any person, firm or corporation actinb in concert or

~ar~
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participation with Defendant, to take any actions necessary to comply with the provisions hereof

Defendant shall provide a copy of this Consent Decree to all employees and agents whose duties

might reasonably include compliance with any provision oFthis Consent Decree, as well as to any

contractor retained to perform work required under this Consent Decree. Defendant shall

condition any such contract upon performance of the work inconformity with the terms ol'this

Consent Decree.

5. The Site is currently owned by C~`I'12 Holding; 2, I.LC. a South Carolina limited

liability company. Defendant's brother, Dana Cumbie, is President oFCF'I'12 Floldinb 2, LLC,

and Defendant certifies to tht United States that he has obtained the consent and authorization of

CFT12 Holding 2, [,l,C, for Defendant to implement the restoration work required under Section

(V of this Consent Decree, and the agreement of~CFT12I-lolding2, I~LC, to cooperate with, and not

to interfere with, the implementation of the restoration work required under Section IV of this

Consent Decree. Defendant further certifies that he has obtained consent and authorization from

CFT12 I-Iolding 2, LLC, to allow CPA and the Corps of Cngineers, upon prior notification, and at

reasonable times with proper identification, to enter onto the Site for purposes of monitoring and

measuring compliance with the terms and conditions of this Consent Decree.

6. The transfer of ownership or other interest in the Site shall not alter or relieve

Defendant of his obligation to comply with all of the terms of this Consent Decree.

7. Excepi as in accordance with this Consent Decree, Defendant and Uefcndani's

agents, successors and assigns are enjoined from discharging any pollutant into waters of the

United States, unless such discharge complies with the provisions of the CWA and its

implementing regulations.

4
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8. 'his Consent Decree is nat and shall not be interpreted to he a permit or

modification of any existinb permit issued pursuant to Sections 402 or 404 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C.

~ ~► 1342 or 1344, or any other law, except as expressly provided herein.

Nothing in this Consent Decree shall limit the ability of the United States Army

Corps of Engineers to issue, modify, suspend, revoke or deny any individual permit or any

nationwide or regional general pern~it, nor shall this Consent Decree limit EPA's ability to exercise

its authority pursuant to Section 404(c) of the CWA, 33 U.S.L. ~ 1344(c), except as expressly

provided herein.

10. This Consent Decree in no way affects or relieves Defendant oi~his responsibility to

comply with any applicable federal, state, or local law, regulation or permit.

11. This Consent Decree in na way affects the rights of the United States as against any

person not a party to this Consent Decree.

12. 'The United States reserves any and all legal and equitable remedies available to

enforce the provisions of this Consent Decree and applicable law.

13. Nothing in this Consent Decree shall constitute an admission of fact or law by any

party.

III. DF;FINITIONS

14. Terms used in this Consent Dec:rce that are defined in the CWA or in regulations

promulgated pursuant to the CWA shall have the meanings assigned to them in the CWn or such

regulations, unless otherwise provided in this Decree. Whenever the terms sit forth below are used

in this Consent Decree, the I'oliawing definitions shall apply:

nC)
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a. "~1ct" or"('lean Water Act" shall mean the Fcdcral Water Pollution Control Act, as

~iI11CI1dCC~, 33 U.S.C.~~'~ 1251-1387.

b. `Calendar Quarter" shall mean the three (3)-Month periods ending on March 31,

June 30, September 30, and December 31.

c. "Complains" shall mean the complaint filed by the lJnited States in this ~icticm.

d. "Consent Uccree" ~~r "i)ecrec" shall mean this Decree anct all /~ppcnaic~s att~chccl

hereto (listed in Section XX).

e. '`lay' S~lill~ ill(',Fill a calendar dfly L111ICtiS CX~1'eSSIy stated to he a business day. In

composing any period of time under this Consent Uccrce, where the last day would

tall nn a Saturday, Sunday, or federal holiday, the period shall run until the close of

business of the next business day.

f. "Defendant" shall mean nion Cumbie.

g. "F.,ffectiv~ Date" shall meats the date on ~vllich this Consent 1~ecree is entered by

the Court.

h. "I:PA" shall mean the United States 1;nvironmental 1'rc~tectian /~~;ency and any of

its successor department~ or agencies.

i. '`Month" shall mean one (1) calendar month running from the numbered day to the

same numbered clay aCthe li~llowinb calcnelar month, re~arcllctis of whether the

particular month has 2K, 29, 30 or 31 days. In the event a triggered event would

occur on a day of the month which does nat exist (for example, on February 30),

then the ev~►~t shall be due on the (first day of'the li~llowing month (liar example.

March 1).

6

~~

2:18-cv-02366-DCN     Date Filed 08/27/18    Entry Number 4-1     Page 6 of 28



j. "Para6raph" shall mean a portion of this Decree identified by an Arabic numeral.

k. "Parties" shall mean the United States and Defendant.

"Section" shall mean a portion of this Decree identitied by a Roman numeral.

m. '`Site" shall mean an approximately 224-acre property in Berkeley County, South

Carolina, more particularly described in the Complaint and on the location maps

and aerial photographs attached as Appendices 1 and 2 to this Consent Decree.

"State" shall mean the State of South Carolina.

v. "United States" shall mean the United States of America, acting on behalf of CPA.

(V. SPCCIFIC PROVISIONS

CIVIL PENALTY

15. Defendant shall pay a civil penalty to the United States in the amount often

thousand Dollars ($10,000), within 30 days of Entry of this Consent Decree.

16. Defendant shall make the above-referenced payment by FedWire Electronic Funds

'transfer ("CrT" nr wire transfer) to the U.S. Department af~Justice account in accordance with

current electronic funds transfer procedures, rcterencing tJ.S.A.O. file number ( ). EPA

Region 4 and the DOJ case number (90-5-1-1-18616). Payment shall he made in accordance with

instructions provided to Defendant by the Tinancial Litigation Unit ("FLU") of the United States

Attorney's Of~tice for the District of South Carolina. The payment instructions provided by the

FLU will include a Consolidated Debt Collection System ("CDCS") number, which Defendant

shall use to identif}~ its payment. "Chc FL,U will provide the payment instructions to:

Dion Cumbie
[address and email J

7
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nny payments received by the Department of~Justice after 4:00 P.M. (Eastern Time) will be

credited on the next business day.

1 7. Upon payment of the civil ~cnalty required by this Consent Decree, Defendant

shall provide written notice (1) to EI'A at the address specified in Section V (Notices) of this

Consent Uecrce, and (2) to EPA's Cincinnati finance Off ice at 26 W. Martin Luther King Drive,

Cincinnati, Ohio 45268, that such payment was maac in acc~~rdance with Paragraph 1 S.

18. Defendant shall nc~t deduct any penalties paid under this Decree piu~suant to this

Section or Section VI11 (Stipulated Penalties) in calculating his federal income tax.

RI:S'I'ORA'T'lON

19. Defendant shill restore and rcvcgetate 10 acres of filled wetlands in the portion ot~

the Site id~ntiticd on Appendix 3 to this Consent Decree. Restoration and revegctation shall

include removal of till material to a~proximatc pre-violation wetland elevation, reestablishment of

native wetland vegetation, and three years ai~monitaring to document wetland status and surviv~~l

cif ~lantin~s. During restoration, remc~vcd fill material may be pushed into the existing borrow pit

identified on ~lnpendix 3 to this Consent Decree, placed in upland portions ofthe Site. or removed

Gom the Sitc.

20. I)etendant shall accomplish restoration in the f~~llowin~ manner:

a. Within 30 days of }?ntry of'fhis Consent Decree by the Court Deli;ndant shall retain a

qualified wetland consultant to prepare a Restoration Plan and oversee the restoration work;

b. Within sixty (fi0) days of Entry of this Consent Decree by the Court, Defendant shall

submit for T'PA review and ap~raval a Rcstoraiion flan ("Restoration Plan") which meets the

requirements of Paragraph 19, describes all work that will he carried out to restore the Sitc,

~~
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includes criteria for determining the success of'the restoration ("success criteria"), and establishes

a timeline far aone-year schedule for Defendant's performance of the restoration work;

c. Defendant shall make revisions to the Restoration Plan to address any comments by

EPA within thirty (30) days ofreceipt of such comments;

d. Upon receipt of F..I'A approval, [)efendant will within one year of EPA's approval of

the Restoration Plan implement the Restoration Plan and complete all restoration work (other than

monitoring and any work determined to he necessary during the monitoring period to achieve

success criteria in the Restoration Plan);

e. Monitoring shall occur for three successive years following completion of restoration

work in accordance with subparagraph 20.d. Fallowing the third year of monitoring, and upon

achievement of'the success criteria in the approved REstoration Plan, Defendant will notify f:PA

that the restoration is complete and EPA will schedule an inspection to confirm that the

Restoration is complete.

f Following inspection by EPA, EPA will either confirm that Restoration is complete or

identify any additional work that is necessary to achieve success criteria. if CPA notifies

Defcndanl that additional work is necessary to achieve success criteria, Defendant will complete

such additional work described by EPA in its notification within the time frame identified by rPA

anti contact CPA to schedule an inspection to confirm that the additional work has been completed.

21. Upon completion of the restoration and achievement of the success criteria,

Defendant shall not disturb in any manner whatsoever the restoration area as identified on

Appendix 3 to this Consent Decree except in compliance with all requirements o1'the CWA.

D
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22. Defendant certifies that he has obtained consent and authorization from CFTI?

1 Iolding 2, I,LC, to fillow 13PA and the Corps ot'rnginecrs, upon prior notification, and ut

rc~asonablc times with proper identification, to enter onto the Sitc for purposes of monitoring anti

measuring compliance with the terms and conditions of this Consent Decree.

MITIGATION

23. 'I'o mitigate for the impacts to wetlands at tiic Site resulting from the alleged

violations, including temporal impacts to the wetland that will he restored pursuant to this Decr~c

and any impacts from previously unauthori~cd discharges of fill that will remain in place at the

Site, Defendant shall purchase, within ninety (90) days of Entry of this Consent Decree by the

Co~u•t, tw•o-hundred tarty thousand dollars ($240,000) of mitigation credits from the Cangarcc

Carlton mitigation bank. Within two weeks of such purchase, Defendant shall submit tc~ 1~,1'A and

the United States, icy the acl~ire~ses specified in Section V (Notices) of this Decree, ci~~cumenlaticm

of his compliance with this Paragraph 21.

24. "I'hosc mitigation credits purchasc,d pursuant to Paragraph 21 satisfy all mitigation

requirements under State and federal laws for the Alle~cd Violations to the extent that wetlands

have been filled as part ol'the activities which arc the suhject ot'1he alleged violations.

25. [)efendant's obligations under this Consent Decree arc intended to resolve

Defendant's liability i'or alleged violations of the CWn, and arc not intended to he used or credited

as mitigation for impacts resulting Isom Ucfendant's activities at the Site pursuant to any CWA

Section 404 permit from the Corps fiu future development o!'the Site. I)el`endant acknowledges

that. if he applies for a CW~1 Section 4(?4 individual or nationwide permit liar development of the

Site, he will be required to avoid and minimiie impacts to waters ot'the United States, and to

~~1
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mitigate for unavoidable impacts to waters of the United States, in accordance with Section

404(b)(1) of the Act and that Section's implementing; regulations.

AU~'HORI%A~'ION OF DISCHARGES

26. The fill resulting from the discharges identified in the Complaint in this matter and

required under this Section 1V of the Consent Decree shall be authorized under Nationwide 32

permit authority. See 33 C.F.R. Part 330. 1'hc terms and conditions oCthe Nationwide 32

permit are set forth in Appendix 4, which is incorporated herein by reference. Defendant shall

comply with all conditions of Nationwide 32 permit. 33 C.F.R. Part 300, Section 330.5 providin6

for modification, suspension and revocation of nationwide permits, is specifically applicable to

this Nationwide 32 permit. Notification of any modification, suspension or revocation of this

Nationwide 32 permit shall be filed with this Court. The authorization provided in NWI~ 32 shall

terminate if Defendant violates any term of this Consent Decree.

MINING PERMIT

27. Within thirty (30) days of Entry ofthis Consent Decree, CPA will in writing inforn~

the South Carolina Department of 1-iealth and Cnvironmental Control shat its Clean Water Act

enl'~rcement case related to unauthorized discharbes of dred};ed and fill material at the Site has

been settled and that EPA has no objection to the closure of the state minin6 permit issued for the

Site.

V. NO"1'ICES

28. Unless otherwise specified in this Decree, whenever notifications, submissions, or

communications are required by this Consent Decree, they shall be made in writing and addressed

in the manner specified in this Section.

<~o~
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29. Any Party may, by written notice to the other Parties, chanbe its designated notice

recipient or notice address provided in this Section.

30. Notices submitted pursuant to this Section shall be deemed submiticd upon

mailinb, unless otherwise provided in this Consent Decree or by mutual agreement ol'the Aarties in

writing.

31. All notices and communications required under this Consent Decree shall be made

to the parties throu6h each of the fol lowinb persons and addresses:

A. TO EPA:

(1) Paul Schwartz
Associate Re6ional Counsel
United States Environmental Protection Agency
Rebion 4
61 f~orsyth St., SW
Atlanta, GA 30303
Schwan .Pauluaepa,bov

(2) Mike Wylie
Marine Rebulatory and Wetlands Enforcement Section
United States Environmental Protection Abency
Rebion 4
Gl Horsyth St., SW
Atlanta, GA 30303
W~•Ii~,Mike~ci~na.6uv

t3. '!'O THE UNl"I'ED STATES:

Letitia .I. trishaw, Section Chief
Environmental Defense Section
11.S. Ueparlment of Justice
Environment and Natural Resources Division

N.(). [iox 7611
Washington, D.C. 20044
.~titia.C~r~sha~v~u~utidoi.~c~~

C. '1'O DEFENDANT:

12
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Dian Cumbie
C/O Cumbic Realty
108A South Hwy 52
Mc~ncks Corner, SC 29461
dioncumbie7l @gmail.com

VI. DISP[1'i'E RESOLUTION

32. Unless otherwise expressly provided far in this Consent Decree, the dispute

resolution procedures of this Section shall be the exclusive mechanism to resolve disputes arising

under or with respect to this Consent Decree. Defendant's failure to seek resolution of a dispute

under this Section shall preclude Defendant from raising any such issue as a defense to an action

by the United States to enforce any obligation of I)cfendant arising under this Decree.

33. Informal Dispute Resolution. Any dispute that arises with respect to the meaning

or requirements of this Consent Decree shall be, in the first instance, the subject of informal

negotiations aman~; the parties to this Consent Decree affected by the dispute to attempt to resolve

suds dispute. T'he period for negotiations shall not extend beyond thirty (30) days besinning with

written notice by one Party to the other Party that a dispute exists, unless agreed to in writing by the

parties. The written notice (Malice ol'Dispute) s}~all state clearly the matter in dispute and the

position of the party providing the Notice of Dispute. Following the 30-day negotiation period, if

the Parties are unable to agree upon the meaning or the requirements of this Consent Decree, the

position advanced by the United States shall be considered binding unless, within fifteen (l 5) days

after the conclusion of the information ne};otiation period, the Defendant invokes formal dispute

resolution procedures as set forth below.

34. Formal Dispute Resolution. Defendant shall invoke formal dispute resolution

procedures, within the time period provided in the preceding Paragraph, by serving on the United

13
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States a written Statement of Position regarding the matter in dispute. The Statement of Position

shall include, but need not be limited to, any i'actua) data, analysis, or opinion supporting

Defendant's position and any supporting; documentation relied upon by Defendant.

35. "fhe United States shall serve its Statement of Position within forty-five (45) Days

ofreceipt of Defendant's Statement of Position. The tJnited States' Statement of Position shall

include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis, or opinion supporting that position

and any supporting documentation relied upon by the United States. 'Che United States

Statement of Position shall he binding on Defendant, unless Defendant files a motion for judicial

review of the clispule in accordance wilh the following Paragraph.

36. Defendant may seek judicial review of the dispute by filing with the Court and

serving on the United States, in accordance with Section V (Notices}, a motion requesting judicial

resolution of the dispute. The motion must be tiled within ten (10) lays of receipt of the United

States' Statement of Position pursuant to the preceding Aaragr~ph. "The motion shall contain a

written statement of Defendant's position on the matter in dispute, including any supporting

factual data, analysis, opinion, or documentation, and shall set forth the relief requested and any

schedule within which the dispute must be resolved for orderly implementation of the Consent

vecree.

37. The United States shall respond to Defendant's motion within the time period

allowed by the Local Rules of this Court. Defendant may file a reply

memorandum, to the extent permitted by the Local Rules.

38. Standard of Review

14
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a. Disputes Concerning Matters Accorded Record Review. Except as

otherwise provided in this Consent Decree, in any dispute brought under

Paragraph 33 pertaining to the adequacy or appropriateness ofplans,

procedures to implement plans, schedules or any other items requiring

approval by L!'A under this Consent Decree; the adequacy o1'the

performance of work undertaken pursuant to this Consent Decree; and all

other disputes that are accorded review on the administrative record under

applicable principles of administrative law, Defendant shall have the

burden of demonstrating, based on the administrative record, that the

position of~the United States is arbitrary and capricious or otherwise not in

accordance with law.

b. Other Disputes. Except as otherwise provided in this Consent Decree, in

any other dispute brought under Paragraph 33, Dcfcndanl shall bear the

burden of demonstrating that its position complies with this Consent

Decree.

39. The invocation of dispute resolution procedures under this Section shall not, by

itself, extend, postpone, or affect in any way any obligation of Defendant under this Consent

Decree, unless and until linal resolution o1'the dispute so provides. Stipulated penalties with

respect to the disputed mailer shall continue io accrue from the first Day of noncompliance, but

payment shall be stayed pending resolution of the dispute as provided in Paragraph 33. if

Defendant does not prevail on the disputed issue, stipulated penalties shall be assessed and paid as

provided in Section VIII (Stipulated Penalties).

~U
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VII. FORCE MAJEURE

40. "Force majeure," for purposes of this Consent Decree, is defined as any event

arising from causes beyond the control of Defendant, of any entity controlled by Defendant, and of

Defendant's contractors, that delays or prevents the performance of any obligation under this

Consent Decree despite Defendant's best et~'orts to fulftll the obligation. The requirement that

Defendant exercise "best efforts to fulfill the obligation" includes using best efforts to anticipate

any potential force majeure event and best efforts to address the effects of any potential force

majeure event (a) as it is occurring and (h} following the potential force majeure, such that the

delay and any adverse effects of the delay are minimised. "Force majeure" d~~es not include

Defendant's financial inability to perform any obligation under this Consent Decree.

41. If any event occurs or has occurred that may delay the performance of any

obligation under this Consent Decree, whether or not caused by a force majcurc event, Defendant

shall provide notice orally or by electronic or facsimile transmission to EPA as set forth in Section

V (Notices), within seven (7) days of when Defendant first knew that the event might cause a

delay. Within fourteen (14) days thereafter, Defendant shall provide in writing to EPA an

explanation and description of the reasons t~~r the delay; the anticipated duration of the delay; all

actions taken or to be taken to prevent ar minimize the delay; a schedule tar implementation of'any

measures to be taken to prevent or mitigate the delay or the effect of the delay; Defendant shall

include discussion of Defendant's rationale forariributing such delay to a force majeure event if he

intends to assert such a claim; and a statement as to whether, in the opinion of Defendant, such

event may cause or contribute to an endanserment to public health, welfare or the environment.

Defendant shall include with any notice all available documentation supporting the claim that the

Cr~~~
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delay was attributable to a force majeure. Failure to comply with the above requirements shall

preclude Defendant from asserting any claim of force majeure far that event for the period of time

of such Iailure to comply, and for any additional delay caused by such failure. Defendant shall be

deemed to know of any circumstance oi' which Defendant, any entity controlled by Defendant, or

Defendant's contractors knew or should have known.

42. [i' EPA agrees that the delay or anticipated delay is attributable to a force majeure

event, the time for performance of the obligations under this Consent Decree that are affected by

the force majeure event will be extended by EPA for such time as is necessary to complete those

obligations. An extension of the time for performance of the obligations affected by the force

majeure event shall not, of itself, extend the time for performance of any other obligation. EPA

will notify Defendant in writing of the length of the extension, if any, far performance of the

obligations affected by the force majeure event.

43. If CPA does not agree that the delay or anticipated delay has been or will be caused

by a force majeure event, EPA will notify Defendant in writing; of its decision.

44. 1f~Defendant elects to invoke the dispute resolution procedures set forth in

Section VI (Dispute Resolution), he shall do so nn later than fifteen (15) days after receipt of

EPA's notice per § 42. In any such proceeding, Defendant shall have the burden of demonstrating

by a preponderance of the evidence that the delay or anticipated delay has been or will be caused

by a force majeure event, that the duration of the delay or the extension sought was or will be

warranted under the circumstances, that best efforts were exercised to avoid and. mitigate the

effects of the delay, and that Defendant complied with the requirements of Paragraphs 39 and 40.

17
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[f Defendant carries this burden, the delay at issue shall be deemed not to be a violation by

Defendant of the affected obligation of this Consent I)ecrcc identified to EPA and the Court.

V1I1. S"I'IPULATED PCNALTIES

45. Defendant shall he liable for stipulated penalties to the United States for violations

of this Consent Decree as specified below, unless excused under Section VII (Force Majeure). A

violation includes failing to perform any obligation required by the terms of this Consent Decree,

according to all applicable requirements of this Decree and within the specified time schedules

established by or approved under this Decree.

46. After the entry of this Consent Decree, if Defendant fails to timely fulfill any

requirement of the Consent Decree, then Defendant shall pay a stipulated penalty to the United

States as follows:

A. Fir ()ay 1 up to and including $50.00 per day
Day 30 ofnon-compliance

B. For Day 31 up to and including $100.00 per day
60 ofnon-compliance

C. For Day 61 and beyond $200.00 per day
of non-compliance

47. Defendant shall pay any stipulated penalty within thirty (30) Days of receiving the

United States' written demand.

48. The United States may in the unreviewable exercise of its discretion, reduce or

waive stipulated penalties otherwise due ii under this Consent Uecree.

49. Stipulated penalties under this Section shall begin to accrue on the Day after

performance is due or nn the Day a violation occurs, whichever is applicable, and sh~li continue to
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accrue until performance is satisfactorily completed or until the violation ceases. Stipulated

penalties shall accrue simultaneously for separate violations of this Consent Decree.

50. Stipulated penalties shall continue to accrue as provided in Paragraph 35 during

any Dispute Resolution, but need not be paid until the following:

a. If the dispute is resolved by agreement or by a decision of EFA that is not

appealed to the Court, Defendant shall pay accrued penalties determined to

be owing, together with interest, to the United States within shirty (30) Days

of the effective date of the agreement or the receipt of CPA's decision or

order.

b. lfthe dispute is appealed to the Court and the United States prevails in

whole or in part, Defendant shall pay all accrued penalties determined by

the Court to be owing, together with interest, within sixty (60) Days of

receiving the Court's decision or order, except as provided in subparagraph

c, below.

c. If any Party appeals the District Court's decision. Defendant shall pay all

accrued penalties determined to be owing, together with interest, within

fifteen (15) Days of receivinb the final appellate court decision.

51. Defendant shall pay stipulated penalties owing to the United States in the manner

set forth and with the confirmation notices required by Section IV, except that the transmittal letter

shall state that the payment is 1'or stipulated penalties and shall state for which violations) the

penalties are being paid.
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52. If Defendant fail to pay stipulated penalties according to the terms of this Consent

Decree, Defendant shall be liable for interest on such penalties, as provided for in 28 U.S.C.

1961, accruing as of the date payment became due. Nothing in this Paragraph shall he construes

to limit the United States from seeking any remedy otherwise provided by (aw for Defendant's

failure to pay any stipulated penalties.

53. The payment of penalties and interest, if any, shall not alter in any way Defendant's

obligation to complete the performance of the requirements of this Consent Decree.

54. Non-Exclusivity of Remedy, Stipulated penalties are nat the United States' exclusive remedy

for violations of this Consent Decree. Subject to the provisions of Section IX (Effect oi'

SettlemendReservation of Rights), the United States expressly reserves the right to seek any other

relief it deems appropriate for Defendant's violation of this Decree or applicable law, including but

not limited to an action against Defendant for statutory penalties, additional injunctive relief,

mitigation or offset measures, and/or contempt. However, the amount of any statutory penalty

assessed for a violation of this Consent Decree shall he reduced by an amount equal to the amount

al' any stipulated penalty assessed and paid pursuant to this Consent Decree.

Xi. EFFECT OF SETTLEMF:N'I'/RESERVATION OF RIGH"CS

54. This Consent Decree resolves the civil claims of the United States for the violations

alleged in the Complaint tiled in this action through the date of lodging.

55. The United States reserves all legal and equitable remedies available to enforce the

provisions of this Consent Decree. This Consent Decree shall not he construed to limit the rights of

the United States to obtain penalties or injunctive relief under the Act or implementing regulations,

or under other federal laws, regulations, or permit conditions. The United States further reserves
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all legal and equitable remedies to address any imminent and substantial endangerment to the

public health or welfare or the environment arising at, or posed by the Site, whether related to the

violations addressed in this Consent Decree or otherwise.

56. In any subsequent administrative or judicial proceeding initiated by the United

States for injunctive relief, civil penalties, other appropriate relief relating to the Sitc and/or

Additional Sites, Defendants shall not assert, anc~ may not maintain, any defense or claim based

upon the principles of waiver, res judicata, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, claim preclusion,

claim-splitting, or other defenses based upon any contention that the claims raised by the United

Stales in the subsequent proceeding were or should have been broubht in the instant case, except

with respect to claims that have been specifically resolved pursuant to Paragraph 40.

57. This Consent Decree is not a permit, or a modification of any permit, under any

federal, State, or local laws yr regulations. Defendant is responsible for achieving a~~d

maintaining complete compliance with all applicable federal, State, and local laws, regulations,

and permits; and Defendant's compliance with this Consent Decree shall be no defense to any

action commenced pursuant to any such laws, regulations, or permits, except as set forth herein.

The United States does not, by its consent to the entry of this Consent Decree, warrant or aver in

any manner that Defendant's compliance with any aspect of this Consent Decree will result in

compliance with provisions of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. ~ 1251 et sey., or with any other provisions of

federal, State, or local laws, regulations, or permits.

58. This Consent Decree does not limit or affect the rights of Defendant or of the

tJnited States abainst any third parties, not party to this Consent Decree, nor does it limit the rights
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of third parties, not party io this Consent Decree, against Defendant, except as otherwise provided

by law.

59. This Consent Decree shall not he construed to create rights in, or grant any cause of

action to, any third party not party to this Consent Decree.

XII. COSTS

60. The Parties shall bear their own costs of this action, including attorneys' fees,

except that the United States shall be entitled to the costs incurred in any action necessary to

collect any portion of the civil penalty or any stipulated penalties due but not paid by Defendant.

XIIL PUBLIC PAR'1'IC[PA'I'lON

61. The parties acknowledge that after the lodging and before the entry of this Consent

Dccrec, final approval by the United States is subject to the requirements of 28 C.f~.R. § 50.7,

which provides for public notice and comment. The [Inited States reserves the right to withhold

or withdraw its consent to the entry of this Consent Decree if the comments received disclose facts

which lead the lJnited States to conclude that the proposed judgment is inappropriate, improper, ar

inadequate. Defendant agrees to entry of this Consent Decree without further notice and agrees

not to withdraw from or oppose c;ntry of this Consent Decree by the Court or to challenge any

provision of the Decree.

XIV. RE"I'LN'I'I~N OP JURISDICTION

62. 'Phis Court shall retain jurisdiction over this action until termination ofthis Consent

[)ecree in order to enforce or modify ltie Consent Decree consistent with applicable law or t~

resolve all disputes arising hereunder as may he necessary or appropriate for construction or
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execution of this Consent Decree. During the pendency of the Consent Decree, any party may

apply to the Court for any relief necessary to construe and effectuate the Consent Decree.

XV. MOI)IHICATION

63. The terms of this Consent Decree, including any attached appendices, may be

modified only by a subsequent written agreement signed by both Parties. Where the modification

constitutes a material chanbe to this Decree, it shall be etTective only upon approval by the Court.

XVI. TERMINATION

64. After Defendant has completed the requirements of Section IV (Specific

Provisions), and is in satisfactory compliance with all requirements of this Consent Decree and

have paid the civil penalty and any accrued stipulated penalties as required by this Consent Decree,

Defendant may serve upon the United States a Request for Termination, stating that Oefendant has

satisfied those requirements, together with all necessary supporting documentation.

65. Following receipt by the United States of Defendant's Request for Termination, the

Parties shall confer informally concerning the Request and any disagreement that

the Parties may have as to whether Defendant has salisfaclorily complied with the

requirements for termination of this Consent Decree. !f the iJnited States agrees

that the Decree may be terminated, such agreement not to be unreasonably

withheld, the Parties shall submit, for the Caurt's approval, a joint stipulation

terminating the Decree.

XVII. SIGNA'T'ORIES/SERVICE
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66. Each undersigned representative of each Defendant and the United States certifies

that he or she is fully authorized to enter into the terms and conditions of this Consent Decree and

to execute and legally bind the Narty he or she represents to this document.

67. Thrs Consent Decree may be signed in counterparts, and its validity shall not be

challenged on that basis. Defendant agrees to accept service of process by mail with respect to all

matters arising under or relating to this Consent Decree and to waive the formal service

requirements set forth in Rules 4 and 5 of'the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and any applicable

local Rules of this Court including, but not limited to, service of a summons. Defendants need nat

lile an answer to the complaint in this action unless or until the Court expressly declines to enter

this Consent Decree.

XV I Il. IN'I'EGRA'I'lON

68. This Consent Decree constitutes the f nal, complete, and exclusive agreement and

understanding among the Narties with respect to the settlement embodied in the Decree and

supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, whether oral or written, concerning the

settlement embodied herein. Other than deliverables that are subsequently submitted and approved

pursuant to this Decree, the Parties acknowledge that there are no representations, agreements, or

understandings relating to the settlement other than those expressly contained in this Consent

Decree.

XIX. FINAL JUDGMENT

69. Upon approval and entry of this Consent Decree by the Court, this Consent Decree

shall constitute a final judgment of the Court as to the United States and Defendant pursuant to

Fed. It. Civ. P. 54 and 58.
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XX. APPENDICES

70. The fallowing Appendices are attached to and part of this Consent Decree:

"Appendix 1" is the Site Map;

"Appendix 2" is the Aerial Photograph of the Site;

"Appendix 3" is the Site Diagrt3m Showing Restoration Area and Borrow Pit

"Appendix 4" is Nationwide Permit 32, includinb Applicable Conditions

11' IS SO ORDCRCD.

Dated and entered this day of _, 2018.

United States District Judge

UN BEI~lALI~ Ul~ "I'NL UNITED STATES:

Jeffrey H. Wood
nctinb Assistant Attorney Gcncrul
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ON BEI{ALF OF Tt{E UNITED ST^TES:

Jeffrey t{. Wood
Aciing Assistant Attomey Osnersl
U.S. Department of Justice
Environment and Notural Rercurces Division

By:

Environment and Natural Rcsources Division
U.S. Department of Justicc
P.O. Box 76ll
Washington, D.C.20044

Bcth Drake
Assistani United States Attomey
District of South Carolina
lint Union Building
l44l Main Street, Suite 500
Columbia, SC 29201
803-929-3000

EPA

oarcd: t\/ttl'lt

**, glill,{

D"d, z//s//g
LeifPalmci

4lililRceional Counsel
' Unitcd States Environnrental Proteclion Agency

Region 4
6l Forsytlt St., SW
Arl8nr8, GA 30303

1)unu"t|
in F.'McDenuott, Attorney
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Of' Counsel:

Paul Schwartz
Associate Regional Counsel
United States Environmental Protection Abency
Region 4
G1 Forsyth St., SW
Atlanta, GA 30303

Dated: ~ ~~~'
Mark Pollins
Director, Wat enforcement Division
Office of Civil Enforcement
Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance
United States Environmental Protection Agency
l 200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N W
Washington, DC 2060

Of Counsel:

Jeffrey Speir
Attorney-Adviser, Water Enforcement Division
Office of Civil Enforcement
Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance
United States Environmental Protection Agency
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N W
Washington, DC 20460
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FOR DEFENDANT

GGb,~ ~ Datcd: ~ ~ ~ ̀~'
Dion Cumbie
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